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Foreword

Historical writing and political purposes are usually inseparable, but a measure
of institutional plurality can allow some genuine space for alternative
perspectives. Unfortunately, post-independence Indian historical writing came to
be dominated by a monolithic political project of progressivism that eventually
lost sight of verifiable basic truths. This genre of Indian history and the social
sciences more generally reached a nadir, when even its own leftist protagonists
ceased to believe in their own apparent goal of promoting social and economic
justice. It descended into a crass, self-serving political activism and
determination to censor dissenting views challenging their own institutional
privileges and intellectual exclusivity. One of the ideological certainties
embraced by this coterie of historians has been the imputation of mythical status
to an alleged threat of Hindu extremism and its unforgivable complicity in
assassinating Mahatma Gandhi.

Historian Dr Koenraad Elst has entered this crucial debate on the murder of
the Mahatma with a skilful commentary on the speech of his assassin, Nathuram
Godse, to the court that sentenced him to death, the verdict he preferred to
imprisonment. Dr Elst takes seriously Nathuram Godse’s extensive critique of
India’s independence struggle, particularly Mahatma Gandhi’s role in it and its
aftermath, but he points out factual errors and exaggerations. He begins with a
felicitous excursion into the antecedent context of the Chitpavan community to
which Nathuram Godse belonged and its important role in the history of
Maharashtra as well as modern India. The elucidation of Godse’s political
testament becomes the methodology adopted by Dr Elst to engage in a wide
ranging and thoughtful discussion of the politics and ideology of India in the



immediate decades before Independence and the period after its attainment in
1947.

Godse’s lengthy speech to the court highlights the profoundly political
nature of his murder of Gandhi. Nathuram Godse surveys the history of India’s
independence struggle and the role of Mahatma Gandhi and judges it an
unmitigated disaster in order to justify Gandhi’s assassination. But he murdered
him not merely for what he regarded as Gandhi’s prior betrayal of India’s
Hindus, but his likely interference in favour of the Nizam of Hyderabad whose
followers were already violently repressing the Hindu majority he ruled over. In
the context of discussing Godse’s political testament, many issues studiously
ignored or wilfully misrepresented by the dominant genre of lssweftist Indian
history writing are subject to withering scrutiny. The impressive achievement of
Dr Elst’s elegant monograph is to highlight the actual ideological and political
cleavages that prompted Mahatma Gandhi’s tragic murder by Godse. A refusal
to understand its political rationale lends unsustainable credence to the idea that
his assassin was motivated by religious fanaticism and little else besides. On the
contrary, Nathuram Godse was a secular nationalist, sharing many of the
convictions and prejudices of the dominant independence movement, led by the
Congress party. He was steadfastly opposed to religious obscurantism and caste
privilege, and sought social and political equality for all Indians in the mould
advocated by his mentor, Vinayak Damodar Savarkar (also called Veer
Savarkar).

Godse’s condemnation for the murder of Mahatma Gandhi cannot detract
from the extraordinary cogency of his critique of Gandhi’s political strategy
throughout the independence struggle and a fundamentally misconceived policy
of appeasing Muslims, regardless of long-term consequences. His latter policy
merely incited their truculence, and far from eliciting cooperation on a common
agenda and national purpose, intensified their separatist tendencies. His perverse
support for the Khilafat Movement, opposed by Jinnah himself, was
compounded by wilful errors at the Round Table Conference of 1930-32. He
took upon himself the task of representing the Congress alone during the second
session without adequate preparation, and eagerly espoused the Communal
Award of separate electorates. And by conceding the creation of the province of
Sindh in 1931 by severing it from the Bombay Presidency, as a result of Jinnah’s
threats, guaranteed an eventual separatist outcome. Godse also denounced the
Congress strategy of first participating in the provincial governments of 1937
without the Muslim League and then withdrawing hastily from them, thereby
losing influence over political developments at a critical juncture. He also
censures the bad faith of Gandhi’s unjust critique of the reformist Arya Samaj



and Swami Shraddhananda’s social activism and Gandhi’s shocking failure to
condemn his murder by a Muslim.

Nathuram Godse even espoused the very conclusions of the progressive
strand of historical writing in independent India that blamed the British for
accentuating communalism (i.e. religious division) to perpetuate imperial rule.
What he did oppose was the kind of communal privileges he felt Mahatma
Gandhi accorded to Muslims, though in the end he accepted them as unavoidable
for the pragmatic reason of eliciting Muslim support for a united, independent
India.

Of course, Gandhi’s populism transformed both Congress and Muslim
politics into a more volatile mass movement. In the case of Muslim politics, over
which the constitutionalist Mohammed Ali Jinnah had presided until 1916 before
retiring for a time to his legal practice, Gandhi’s appeasement helped nurture
unequivocal separatism. What Godse implacably opposed was India’s partition,
which underlined the failure of Gandhi’s attempt to appease Muslims. Most of
all, Godse was outraged by Gandhi’s continued solicitude towards them after
Partition and despite the horrors being experienced by Hindus inside newly-
independent Pakistan. In particular, he was appalled by Gandhi’s insistence on
releasing Pakistan’s share of accumulated foreign exchange reserves, which
Jawaharlal Nehru also counselled Mahatma Gandhi against, (while India was at
war with it in Kashmir), because the funds would immediately aid their war
effort.

Revealingly, Godse appears to have grasped the imperative to negotiate
wisely with the British in order to achieve the intact legacy of a united India. He
was critical of the posturing of the Congress that ended in the disastrously
misconceived Quit India Movement of 1942 that was quickly succeeded by
Gandhi’s total capitulation. The latter could have meant the abandonment of all
democratic pretensions and handing over the governance of independent India to
the Muslim League to prevent Partition. Quite clearly, Gandhi’s assassin was not
the raving Hindu lunatic popularly depicted in India, but a thoughtful and
intelligent man who was prepared to commit murder. In some respects, Dr
Bhimrao Ambedkar was an even fiercer critic of Gandhian appeasement of
Muslims, sentiments echoed by no less political giants of India and the Congress
like Sri Aurobindo Ghose and Annie Besant.

Dr Elst also provides a brief, but persuasive account of the political lapses of
Congress and its iconic personalities, as well as the fate of the Hindu Mahasabha
and its prominent leaders, Veer Savarkar and Dr Syama Prasad Mookerjee. He
points out the utter folly of Congress politicians in their dealings with British in
the 1940s. The highly respected Sri Aurobindo Ghose, a former Congress leader



himself, had urged support for Britain’s war effort and excoriated Subhas Bose
for allying with the Japanese, but to no avail. In addition, Dr Elst carefully
highlights Godse’s disapproval of the glaring inconsistencies in Gandhi’s
pacifism, both intellectual and political, counter posing them to the lofty
principle of absolute non-violence it supposedly represented. But Dr Elst is fully
aware of the tragic impact of the Mahatma’s assassination on India and the
profoundly debilitating impact it had on Indian nationalist politics subsequently.
In his conclusion, he balances Nathuram Godse’s critique of Mahatma Gandhi
by revisiting its substantial rejection by leading Hindutva scholars, Ram Swarup
and Sita Ram Goel. In a lengthy concluding section, he adds his own careful
assessment of Gandhi’s successes as well as perversity in promoting hostile
Islamic and Christian interests. His comments on contemporary Indian political
life and the significance of Gandhi’s continuing legacy for it are astute.

It is also relevant to reiterate that an important additional contribution of Dr
Elst’s excellent monograph is to underline the insuperable contradictions posed
by the Indian discourse on secularism and communalism. In his convincing
account, Dr Elst judges that it has turned logic on its head by accusing secular
nationalists, represented, for example, by the alleged Hindu nationalists of the
RSS, of the very political transgression of communalism that its own support for
sectarian privilege, however politically well-meaning, clearly entails. Ironically,
Indian politicians of all hues continue to maintain, in a triumph of hope over
experience, that true Islam would guarantee Hindu-Muslim amity. And the
paradox of independent India is that it evolved into an armed modern entity as
secular nationalists like Nathuram Godse ardently wished.



Dr Gautam Sen
(Former Lecturer in the Politics of the World Economy, London School of
Economics & Political Science)



Preface

Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi, better known as the Mahatma, was shot dead by
the Hindu nationalist journalist Nathuram Godse on 30 January 1948, half a year
after the independence and partition of India. During his trial, which ended in a
death sentence, Godse was permitted to explain his motives in a speech. The
present book is largely a critical comment on that courtroom speech. One of our
findings is that while Godse’s act was by definition extremist, his criticism of
Gandhi was in fact shared by many.

The first version of the present book was De moord op de Mahatma in Dutch
(The Murder of the Mahatma’), published by the Davidsfonds in Leuven,
Belgium, in January 1998, in time for the assassination’s fiftieth anniversary.
News of the publication led to my being invited by the leading Dutch radio
anchor Marjolein Uitzinger of AVRO broadcasting foundation and by the Dutch
Hindu broadcaster OHM-Vani for lengthy interviews. By contrast, after initial
calls for interviews on the news programmes of Flemish (i.e. Dutch-speaking
Belgian) state radio and TV, I was disinvited, apparently because the book did
not contain the expected hagiographical indignation over Godse’s radical
incomprehension of Gandhi’s presumed greatness. Its message was not deemed
fit for a commemoration of a holy man’s martyrdom. Of the two leading Flemish
dailies, De Morgen gave it a review mixing praise with indignation, while De
Standaard burned it down completely.

At the publisher’s request, I had included in the Dutch edition a long
introduction of Indian history, the caste system and the Hindu-Muslim conflict. I
left these out in the English editions, judging that separate publications on those
topics are sufficiently available. The first English edition, Gandhi and Godse: A



Review and a Critique, was published in 2001 by Voice of India, a Delhi-based
Hindu publishing house founded and managed by the late great historian, Sita
Ram Goel. I had my doubts about having the book published through an
ideologically marked publisher, but it seemed there was little alternative. I
expected mainstream publishers to be wary of publishing it as it cited most of
Godse’s speech verbatim, and India’s ban on the publication of his speech had
never formally been lifted. Like many laws in India, that ban had become dead
letter and Godse’s own political party, the Hindu Mahasabha, had effectively
brought out the speech as a booklet; but a serious publisher with a reputation to
uphold might choose to be more prudent. However, when Mr Goel heard of my
Dutch book detailing Godse’s motives for murdering Gandhi, he himself offered
to publish an English translation. He had been a Gandhian activist in his youth
and an eyewitness to some of the events discussed in the speech. He always
retained a soft corner for the Mahatma, even after narrowly escaping with his
life, his wife and his first child during the Muslim League’s ‘Direct Action Day’
in Kolkata, the prelude to the great Partition massacres for which many Hindus
and Sikhs hold Gandhi co-responsible. His skepticism vis-a-vis the Hindu
nationalists’ tendency to blame Gandhi for the Partition is discussed here in
chapter 6-8.

A French translation of the Indian edition, Pourquoi j’ai tué Gandhi:
Examen et Critique de la Défense de Nathuram Godse (Why I Killed Gandhi:
Investigation and Critique of Nathuram Godse’s Defense), was prepared at the
request of the Paris-based publisher Michel Desgranges in 2007. His prestigious
publishing house Les Belles Lettres, otherwise specialized in the Greco-Roman
classics, had started a series of books on India directed by Francois Gautier,
Indian correspondent for several French dailies. It was a step forward to be
published alongside top-ranking Indology scholars like Prof. Michel Angot.

Meanwhile, the English-Indian edition was getting some recognition. It was,
after all, a rare entrance into the real thoughts of a Hindu nationalist, as opposed
to one of those ‘expert’ analyses by a biased academic Indologist. Even those
Westerners who are in the pocket of the Indian secularists can recognize a
reliable source when they are presented with one. That is why Prof. Martha
Nussbaum used my book as a source in her own book The Clash Within
(Harvard 2007, p. 165 ff., p. 362 ff.). Not that she wrote anything that
Nehruvians in India would disapprove of, but at least she got the Godse part
right.

A much updated Dutch edition was published by Aspekt Publishers in
Soesterberg, the Netherlands, in 2009. It was included in its series of biographies
under the simple title Mahatma Gandhi. This amounted to a first-class burial,



obscuring the specificity of the book and making it look like just another
biography. But at least I am happy it became available in print again for the
Dutch-medium public.

Now the book, updated once more, may well have found its definitive shape
in this English edition. I thank Professor Gautam Sen for writing an insightful
foreword.



The Murder of Mahatma Gandhi and Its
Consequences

‘It is very necessary throughout to view
Gandhi as he is and not what he poses to be.’!

CHRONICLE OF THE MAHATMA MURDER

Between 5.00 and 5.30 p.m. on 30 January 1948, on the way to his daily public
prayer session in the garden of Birla House, Delhi, Mohandas Karamchand
Gandhi, leader of the movement that had presided over India’s independence
from Britain in August 1947, was killed with three revolver shots by Nathuram
Vinayak Godse, editor of the Pune-based Marathi daily Hindu Rashtra. The old
man (born 1869) fell down with a barely audible groan, ‘Hey Ram’ (‘Oh God’)
according to the official legend, then breathed his last.

This way, Godse (born 1910) exacted ‘punishment’ for Gandhi’s alleged
pro-Muslim policies. These were particularly his acceptance in June 1947 of the
plan to partition India into a secular state, retaining the name India and a Muslim
state called Pakistan; and more immediately his fast, earlier in January 1948, on
behalf of the safety of the Delhi Muslims threatened by angry Hindu refugees
pouring in from Pakistan, and in support of Pakistan’s demand that India pay



them 550 million as their share from the treasury of British India. Under
protest, the Indian Government had given in to the latter demand because of
Gandhi’s pressure, and in spite of the presence of Pakistani invasion troops on
Indian territory in Kashmir. Surely this was the first time in history that a
country deliberately financed its battlefield opponent, and not everyone was
pleased with this display of Gandhian values.

Godse offered no resistance when the police arrested him, and effectively
saved him from being lynched by the crowd.? The next morning, the very last
issue of the Hindu Rashtra carried the news of Gandhiji’s death on the cover in

jubilant language.?

An earlier attempt on Gandhi’s life, on 20 January 1948, had failed. The
perpetrator of the clumsy bomb attack, Madanlal Pahwa, a refugee from Pakistan
living in Mumbai, had been arrested on the spot. The police soon discovered that
the two attempts on Gandhiji’s life were connected, thanks to partial confessions
extracted from Pahwa under torture, and to the help of Pune arms merchant
Digamber Badge, who during a routine questioning revealed that he had

provided Pahwa some weaponry.* Badge was arrested on 31 January and soon
turned approver, so that he did not sit in the dock during the Mahatma murder
trial and even received state housing and a pension afterwards.

In the next few days, the police arrested as accomplices the manager of
Hindu Rashtra, Narayan Dattatreya Apte; Nathuram’s brother Gopal Godse;
entrepreneur Vishnu Karkare, refugee benefactor and sometime collaborator of
Hindu Rashtra; Badge’s home servant Shankar Kistaiyya; and Dr Sadashiv
Parchure from Gwalior, who had provided the murder weapon. It transpired that
Pahwa’s bomb explosion had been meant as a signal for a shoot-out by the
others, who had been present but hesitated at the last moment. Vinayak Damodar
Savarkar, ideologue of the Hindu Mahasabha (‘Hindu great-assembly’, HMS),
and one of the 25,000 Hindu nationalist activists who had been arrested
immediately after the murder under Preventive Detention laws, was also
included among the co-accused. Even under torture, all the others had denied
Savarkar’s complicity.

THE VERDICT

The Mahatma murder trial took place in Delhi’s Red Fort.” Godse and Apte were
sentenced to death, Savarkar was acquitted, the others were given prison
sentences on conspiracy charges. Godse appealed against the verdict, not
because he claimed innocence of the murder, but because he denied that there



had been a conspiracy. In effect, the thrust of his (and his accomplices’) appeal
was that all the others had to be acquitted, because none of them had been a
party to the murder. Eventually, the appeals trial did not substantially alter the
verdict, except for Kistaiyya and Parchure, who got the benefit of the doubt and
were acquitted.

According to the Godse family, Law Minister Dr Bhimrao Ambedkar
contacted Nathuram’s lawyer to convey the message that if Nathuram would like
his sentence commuted to life imprisonment, he would be able to arrange it.
After all, it was easy enough to invoke Gandhiji’s non-violence to this effect,
e.g.: ‘Killing this misguided activist could hardly be a fitting tribute to
Gandhiji’s legacy of non-violence.” But Nathuram’s reply was: ‘Please, see to it
that mercy is not imposed on me. I want to show that through me, Gandhiji’s
non-violence is being hanged.” Taken aback by this reply, Ambedkar, who had

never thought highly of Gandhiji’s eccentric ideas, actually praised Godse.°

Godse and Apte were hanged in the early morning of 15 November 1949 in
Central Gaol, Ambala. Their ashes were secretly submerged in the nearby
Ghaggar River (the ancient Saraswati river of Vedic fame), though it had been
Godse’s last wish that his ashes be thrown into the Indus River, in what had now
become Pakistan, as soon as the Pakistan territory was liberated from Islamic
rule. Every anniversary of the hanging, small gatherings in Pune and Mumbai
commemorate Godse’s and Apte’s ‘sacrifice’ and renew the pledge to undo
India’s partition.

POLITICAL CONSEQUENCES

The immediate political consequences of the murder were chiefly the following
four:

Firstly, the communal tension in India stopped at once (not in Pakistan; in its
eastern sector, i.e., today’s Bangladesh, pogroms of the minorities continued
until 1950). When earlier that month the Mahatma had started a fast unto death
for communal harmony, the riots in Delhi had already stopped; Hindu and Sikh
refugee organizations had promised to Gandhi that they would vacate the
Muslim houses and mosques which they had occupied. But this victory for
Gandhian non-violence and ‘change of heart’ was wearing off, especially
because new refugees kept coming; because there was still no news from
Pakistan of any similar abating of the violence against the minorities there; and
because many people, including Godse, were indignant at the Government’s
paying X550 million to Pakistan under Gandhi’s pressure. But just when



communal violence was about to resume, Gandhi’s death sent a shock wave
through India which stopped the anti-Muslim agitation completely and ushered
in a period of relative communal peace which was to last well into the 1960s.

Secondly, the Hindu Mahasabha, the pro-Hindu political party with which
Godse, Apte and their newspaper had been associated, was knocked out as a
political force. Even its leader Dr Syama Prasad Mookerjee, a member of
independent India’s first and broad-based government (which included some
non-members of the Indian National Congress in spite of the latter’s comfortable
majority), left the party. In the subsequent decades, it never got more than three
seats in the Lok Sabha. Today, it is a small organization and only a shadow of
the party it once was.

Thirdly, the Hindu nationalist organization Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh
(RSS, National Volunteer Corps, or simply ‘the Sangh’) of which Godse had
been a member, was banned and forced to comply with Government demands,
especially the drafting of a written Constitution to remove the impression of its
being a secret society. Only after complying was it unbanned and its leadership
released from prison. The subsequent RSS habit of paying insistent lip service to
the dominant ideologies and institutions might be partly due to this humiliating
episode.

Fourthly, the total lack of support from politicians in other parties during this
ordeal convinced the RSS rank and file of the need to start a party of their own.
This way, Gandhi’s death was a factor in the foundation of the Jana Sangh
(1951-77), later refounded as the Bharatiya Janata Party (BJP), that ruled India
in 1998-2004, and is the ruling party now since May 2014.

Note that we are not including among the murder’s consequences any
change in the party-line of the Congress. The power equation of the next few
years, viz. Nehru’s breakthrough to unchallenged hegemony, had essentially
been put into place by Gandhi himself. Before Independence, against the
preference of the Congress Working Committee, the Mahatma had forced the
highly esteemed Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel to withdraw his candidature for the
Congress presidency, effectively imposing Nehru as party leader on an unwilling
party, and therefore also as Prime Minister on the country. There is no indication
whatsoever that in the subsequent power struggle between the leftist Nehru and
conservatives like Patel, Purushottamdas Tandon and C. Rajagopalachari in
1948-50, a surviving Gandhi would have sided with the latter. To that extent,
Gandhi’s absence should, in theory, be deemed a setback for Nehru, but he made
up for it with an extra measure of his Machiavellian cleverness. Gandhi’s heir
drew a moral advantage from the murder, which Patel as Home Minister had not
been able to prevent, and he carried the day.



A TABOOED DOCUMENT

What remains of Nathuram Godse is the statement he gave in his own defence
during the trial, on 8 November 1948. After the statement was read in court, its
publication was prohibited. However, after the release of Godse’s accomplices
from prison in the 1960s, translations in Indian languages started appearing, and
in 1977, Nathuram’s brother Gopal published the English original under the
cautious title May It Please Your Honour. A new edition, with a long epilogue
by Gopal on the background and the events in prison, was published in 1993

under the more revealing title Why I Assassinated Mahatma Gandhi.”

To my knowledge, before the present book no serious discussion of Godse’s
speech has ever been published. For example, in spite of its title and project,
B.R. Nanda’s book Gandhi and His Critics does not even mention Godse, let
alone his self-justification. There is no such thing as a rebuttal of Godse’s
argumentation against Gandhi, but there is no sympathizing commentary either.
The Hindu Mahasabha has merely published the speech itself, and some eye-
witnesses have laid down in writing their memories of the atmosphere in court
when Godse spoke.

Justice Gopal Das Khosla, one of Godse’s judges, and whose sympathies

were certainly not with ‘Hindu Communalism’,® has left this impression in his
book Murder of the Mahatma: ‘The audience was visibly and audibly moved.
There was a deep silence when he ceased speaking. Many women were in tears
and men were coughing and searching for their handkerchiefs. (...) I have,
however, no doubt that had the audience on that day been constituted into a jury
and entrusted with the task of deciding Godse’s appeal, they would have brought
in a verdict of ‘not guilty’ by an overwhelming majority.’

In 1998, a Mumbai playwright, Pradeep Dalvi, tried to recreate some of the
atmosphere in his play Me Nathuram Godse Boltoy (‘This Is Nathuram Godse
Speaking’). After seven performances, Prime Minister Atal Bihari Vajpayee
managed to convince the Maharashtra state government, a Hindu nationalist
coalition of Shiv Sena and BJP, to withdraw clearance for the play. This was
somewhat unexpected, considering that Shiv Sena leader Bal Thackeray was on
record as saying that future generations will venerate Godse rather than Gandhi.
It was left to Mumbai’s liberals, led by filmmaker Shyam Benegal, to protest

against this act of censorship.’

Nathuram Godse’s defence statement is a historical document, and in this
book we will quote it at length. The numeration of its paragraphs as given here is
present in the original as published by his brother. Godse develops his critique of
Gandhi in a chronological order as the events of the Mahatma’s political career



took place, and the numbering in his statement follows accordingly. Yet,
references to some topics remain scattered, so at some places in this book, I have
brought together these scattered references. Paragraphs in which he repeats
himself or which are not relevant for his political self-justification have not been
reproduced, but the greater part of his text is reproduced verbatim before being
commented upon.

FACTS OF THE MURDER PLOT

The first part of Godse’s statement merely states his position in the trial. He
claims sole responsibility for the murder, and rejects the thesis of the prosecution
that there was a conspiracy:

‘I, Nathuram Vinayak Godse, the first accused above-named, respectfully
beg to state as under:

‘1. Before I make my submission as regards the various charges I
respectfully submit that the charges as framed are not according to law, in as
much as there is a misjoinder of charges and there ought to have been two
separate trials, one relating to the incident of the 20th of January 1948 and the
other relating to the incident of the 30th of January 1948. The two having been
mixed up together the whole trial is vitiated. (...)’

‘4. It appears from the charge sheet that the prosecution takes the events that
have happened on 20 January 1948 and thereafter on 30 January 1948 as one and
the same or a chain of events in continuation of one and the same object
culminating in the murder of Gandhiji. I, therefore, wish to make it clear at the
outset that the events up to 20 January 1948 are quite independent and they have
no connection whatsoever with what happened thereafter and on 30 January

1948.710

What follows is a list of specific allegations made by approver Badge which
Godse denies one by one—no one ever helped him or even knew of his murder
plans, no one of the co-accused supplied the murder weapon. Instead, he had
bought the revolver from an unknown merchant in Delhi refugee circles
(paragraphs 1-25).

The court was quite right in ignoring this plea. Certainly there had been a
conspiracy, in which all the accused except Savarkar were involved. There were
enough witnesses who had seen the conspirators together in late January 1948, in
hotels, airplanes, railway stations, etc. The conspiracy, though denied to the last
minute of the trial by all the conspirators, was also confirmed to me by the two

accomplices who survived into the 1990s—Madanlal Pahwa and Gopal Godse.!!



As Gopal Godse told me: ‘Of course I was involved, but I had a right to deny it.
Nathuram was bound to be hanged, but for the rest of us it made a big difference,
so we all—Nathuram included—pleaded against the conspiracy thesis.’

One man could not be saved by this defence plea—the manager of the paper
Hindu Rashtra, Narayan Apte, son of famed historian and Sanskrit scholar
Vaman Shivram Apte, whose The Student’s Sankrit-English Dictionary is still
widely in use. A Brahmin like Godse, he was much more a man of the world. At
the time of the events under discussion, he had a wife with a handicapped little
son as well as a mistress who was expecting his daughter. He was the only real
accomplice in the actual murder, planning the second attempt along with Godse
and encouraging him till the end. Nathuram Godse preferred to act (almost)
alone in the attack on 30 January 1948 because in his judgement, the first
attempt had failed due to the excess number of participants. In that light, the
court was right in distinguishing between Godse and Apte on the one hand and
the rest of the conspirators on the other, imposing the death penalty on the
former and prison sentences on the latter.

The rest of Godse’s statement was devoted entirely to a discussion of
politics, both Gandhiji’s and his own. It is built up as a crescendo of indignation
at what he saw as the Mahatma’s accumulating errors, culminating in the
unabashed justification of the murder. After having tried to keep his friends
outside the reach of judicial punishment, he stands up to claim the full guilt or
merit of the murder as the logical consequence of his own long-standing political
convictions in confrontation with Gandhi’s policies.

It has not been noticed either by his admirers or his detractors that quite a
few of his political convictions were the same or very similar to those held by
Gandhi. The fact that he murdered the Mahatma has eclipsed every other fact in
his fairly long and detailed statement. We hope that this study will enable the
readers to see Godse with their own eyes rather than through the eyes of those
who have thus far monopolized the discourse on the Mahatma murder.

NOTES

1. Lord Willingdon, Viceroy of India, 1933; quoted in B.R. Nanda: Gandhi and His Critics, p. Vii.

2. The policeman who made the arrest, Dasondha Singh, a Sikh, was murdered on 15 May 1995 in his
village in Hoshiarpur, East Punjab. The retired policeman had been involved in a quarrel with people
close to the state government (Congress), which may explain the speed with which the investigation
was closed without result (Indian Express, 27 May 1997). Probably there is no connection with the
Mahatma murder, though it remains true that among Sikhs, a community which was hit particularly
hard by the Partition, Godse is more popular than Gandhi.

3. The story of the murder plot is told in detail in Tapan Ghosh’s The Gandhi Murder Trial (1973), ch. 1-5;



Manohar Malgonkar: The Men Who Killed Gandhi (1978, I have used the 1981 reprint); and an
inside account by Nathuram’s brother Gopal Godse: Gandhiji’s Murder and After (1989), ch.1-3.

4. Saira Menezes; ‘I Regret I Wasn’t The Man To Kill Gandhi’, Outlook, 2 February 1998,
https://www.outlookindia.com/magazine/story/i-regret-i-wasnt-the-man-to-kill-gandhi/204997

5. Accounts of the trial include G.D. Khosla’s The Murder of the Mahatma and Other Cases (1963), ch. 10;
P.L. Inamdar’s The Story of the Red Fort Trial 1948-49 (1979); T. Ghosh’s Gandhi Murder Trial,
ch. 7-27.

6. Interview with Gopal Godse, January 1992.

7. Gopal Godse had also published another account, richer in details but with the focus more on personal
than on political aspects, in 1966, written immediately after his release from prison in 1964; in 19809,
an English translation from the Marathi original was published: Gandhiji’s Murder and After.

8. One indication of G.D. Khosla’s convictions—his book on the matter, Murder of the Mahatma, is
dedicated to the militantly secularist writer Khushwant Singh. Moreover, on p. 261 he explicitly
supports the demands for which the Mahatma went on his final fast (esp. payment by India of X550
million to Pakistan), and which had triggered the initiative to kill him. On the Partition and the
ensuing refugee problem, Khosla wrote Stern Reckoning. A Survey of the Events Leading up to and
Following the Partition of India.

9. Vide Masseh Rahman: ‘Bombay’s culture cops’, Time, 3 August 1998.

10. Nathuram Godse: Why I Assassinated Gandhi, pp. 15-16.

11. Interview with Gopal Godse, January 1992; and with Madanlal Pahwa, February 1996.
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Nathuram Godse’s Background

NATHURAM GODSE’S CASTE

The Mahatma’s assassin, Nathuram Vinayak Godse, was a bachelor and
teetotaller, completely devoted to his political work. The city where he lived was
in itself a continuous encouragement to a servant of the Hindu cause: Pune,
capital of the Peshwa Empire (1713-1818), the last great Hindu power before
British rule. Godse was an ardent follower of Vinayak Damodar Savarkar, also
known as swatantryaveer (‘hero of independence’) or just veer, ‘hero’, who,
though formally retired as president of the Hindu Mahasabha, was still its
undisputed ideological leader.

Both Savarkar and Godse belonged to the Chitpavan Brahmin caste of
coastal Maharashtra, a very prominent community in India’s history since the
eighteenth century. The members of this caste are still physically distinct by
their taller and lighter features (some even have blue eyes), pointing to their
immigrant origins. They are said to be Maga Brahmins whose original homeland
was Shakadweep, ‘the Shaka (Scythian) continent’, i.e., Central Asia.l
Apparently, as Shrikant Talageri in Aryan Invasion Theory and Indian
Nationalism (p. 244) observes, they came as refugees from Seistan in western
Afghanistan at the time of the Muslim conquest in the ninth century (as would a
few centuries later the Saraswat Brahmins from Kashmir, now largely settled in



Goa). According to their own traditions laid down in the Sahyadri Khanda, they
were washed ashore as corpses but Vishnu’s incarnation Parashurama ‘brought
the corpses back to life’ by a reversal of the cremation process: the pyre (chita)
merely purified (pavanam) them, hence their name ‘Chitpavan’. For a long time,
they were looked down upon and used for menial services by the native

Deshasth Brahmins.? But at the turn of the eighteenth century, a Chitpavan clan
shot to prominence in the wake of the Maratha commander Shivaji’s successful
liberation of parts of Maharashtra from Moghul rule.

Shivaji’s progeny proved incapable of ruling and extending the Maratha
empire, and in 1713 effective control passed into the hands of their prime

ministers, the Chitpavan Peshwas.? For half a century, Peshwa-led armies scored
victory upon victory, until they overplayed their hand and suffered a shattering
defeat in the third battle of Panipat in 1761 against the Afghan invader Ahmad
Shah Abdali. In spite of this setback, they remained the main power centre in
India until their decisive defeat by the British East India Company troops in
1817.

At the end of the nineteenth century, Chitpavan Brahmins like V.K.
Chiplunkar, G.K. Gokhale and B.G. Tilak took a leadership role in the fledgling

freedom movement against British colonial rule.* The British rulers considered
them the most dangerous caste in India; in jest, they abbreviated the caste’s
alternative name Konkanasth Brahmins as KoBra. At any rate, the Chitpavan
Brahmins had a strong sense of vocation as India’s leaders on the road to
freedom and national honour. Though politically committed to the abolition of
caste, Godse and Savarkar undoubtedly had this caste-bound sense of vocation.

REVENGE ON GODSE’S CASTE

One immediate consequence of the murder which is usually left unmentioned in
the numerous hagiographies of the Mahatma is the wave of revenge which hit
the Hindu Mahasabha, the RSS and most of all, the Chitpavan Brahmin caste. It
seems that most hagiographers were embarrassed with the way the apostle of
non-violence was mourned by his fans as well as by others who merely used the
opportunity for, as in Red Fort Trial (p. 4) P.L. Inamdar puts it, ‘the manhunt of
Maharashtrian Brahmins irrespective of their party allegiance by non-Brahmins
in Poona and other districts.” Offices and houses were burnt down, numerous
people were molested and at least eight people were killed, according to an
official tradition.

However the article ‘Gandhi is killed by a Hindu’, published by The New



York Times on 31 January 1948, puts the number of mortal victims in Bombay
(now called Mumbai) alone, and on the first day alone, already at fifteen. Locals
in Pune (where of course the Hindu Rastra office was set on fire, along with the
offices of other pro-Hindu papers) told me they estimated the death toll in Pune
alone at fifty. One of the rare studies of the event, by Maureen Patterson,
concludes that the greatest violence took place not in the cities of Mumbai, Pune
and Nagpur, centres of Hindu nationalism, but in ‘the extreme southwest of the
Deccan plateau—the Desh—of the Marathi linguistic region’, including Satara,

Belgaum and Kolhapur.® Then, as now, press reporting on communal rioting was
under strict control, and Maureen Patterson reports that even decades after the
facts, she was not given access to relevant police files. So, we may not know the
exact magnitude of this ‘Gandhian violence’ until all the records are opened, but
the death toll may well run into several hundreds.

In a second phase, the violence became purely casteist—the middle castes,
particularly the Marathas aspiring to dominate at the expense of the Brahmins,
joined the riots bandwagon to settle scores with their main rivals, e.g., in Pune:
‘Godse’s act, which first set off anti-RSS attacks, before long became the
opportunity non-Brahmans had been waiting for to retaliate against Chitpavans
for long years of real or imagined domination. Crowds in lorries reportedly
owned by leading Maratha politicians and hundreds on foot surged through

Brahman wards bent on revenge.’®

In the Satara district, Chitpavans were ‘disproportionately’ active in highly
visible positions, and thereby ‘symbolized the power that they had in the past
two centuries taken over from the Maratha king in Satara as his Peshwas’, which
had led to a long-standing Maratha resentment. In February 1948, one thousand
of their houses were officially reported as having been burnt down, and an
unspecified number were killed, e.g.: ‘one family named Godse was said to have
lost three male members.’ In this case, the ground had been prepared by decades
of anti-Brahmin agitation by the Satyashodhak Samaj (founded by the nineteenth
century anti-Brahmin ideologue Mahatma Jyotirao Phule) with anti-Brahmin

hate theatre and social boycotts.”
The destruction was even larger in Kolhapur, where attacks on HMS and
RSS offices, and on a film studio owned by a pro-HMS Maratha, were followed

by a massive wave of terror against all Brahmins.® Here it was the Maratha
princely court itself which had for long given the lead in anti-Brahmin policies,
such as job reservations for non-Brahmins and attracting anti-Brahmin teachers
(both Christian missionaries and Veda-fundamentalistic Arya Samaj reformists)
to run the schools. Maratha resentment was often expressed in a constructive



manner, such as support to the actual uplift of low-born people to positions held
mostly by Brahmins, e.g., the studies and career start of India’s first Law
Minister, Dalit leader Dr Bhimrao Ambedkar, had been sponsored by the ruler
Shahu Maharaj of Kolhapur and Sayajirao Gaekwad of Baroda, descendents of
Maratha generals. Shahu Maharaj had actively collaborated with the British
against the freedom movement, which was locally identified with Chitpavan
Brahmins like B.G. Tilak. Note the combination of anti-Brahminism with
aggressive Hinduism in the Marathas as heirs of Shivaji, a combination which
many feel in recent decades has got embodied in the Shiv Sena.

The biggest violence took place in the seven Patwardhan (Chitpavan)
princely states such as Sangli, where the remarkably advanced factories owned
by Chitpavans were largely destroyed. Here, Jains and Lingayats joined the
Marathas in the attacks. The events hastened the integration of the Patwardhan
states (viz. by March 1948) into the Bombay province, an integration opposed by
the Brahmins fearing Maratha predominance in the integrated province.

In a mythological aside, Maureen Patterson muses that the Marathas, who
claim Kshatriya (warrior aristocracy) status, had finally found a way and a
position to avenge the mythical actions of the Brahman Parashurama who, as it
is believed, exterminated the Kshatriyas from the face of the earth at one point. It
is believed that the same Parashurama created the Chitpavan Brahmins from

corpses that lay on the Konkan coast.”

However, lest Gandhians and Congress apologists use this casteist
development to disown their own responsibility, it merits emphasis that the first
phase of the violence seemed to be in the name of Gandhism, targeting Hindu
nationalists of various organizations, regardless of caste. Thus, in Mumbai:
‘Mobs broke into Mahasabha and RSS offices, and ransacked houses and shops
belonging to known members of these organizations. Trouble continued the next
day when a mob estimated between 500 and 1000 gathered in front of [the house
of] the fiery Hindu nationalist leader Vinayak Damodar Savarkar, and began
stoning it. Reports, probably rumours, had circulated that people close to
Savarkar had been distributing sweets to celebrate Gandhi’s death. Congress
supporters were incensed and swarmed around Veer Savarkar’s house, but police
intervention saved him from bodily harm. But police were not in time to prevent

his brother, who lived nearby, from being hurt.’°

The best comparison in living memory for this massacre of Hindu
nationalists and Brahmins is provided by the massacre of Sikhs by Congress
secularists in Delhi and elsewhere after the murder of their leader Indira Gandhi
by her Sikh bodyguard in 1984. (The anti-Jewish pogrom of the Kristallnacht,



9-10 November 1938, comes to mind. It was triggered by the murder of a
German diplomat in Paris by a Jewish youngster.) But unlike in the case of the
anti-Sikh pogrom, where a few local Congress leaders were brought to trial after
a long delay, and where references to the events keep on being made in studies
of ‘communalism’, the Mahatma riots had no consequences for the perpetrators
and were flushed down the memory hole, probably because the accused in the
latter case did not have a high profile.

GODSE, THE SWAYAMSEVAK

The ideological helplessness of the contemporary Hindu nationalists comes out
immediately when you question them about Mahatma Gandhi. The assessment
of Gandhi’s significance for Hindu society and the fact of his murder by a Hindu
are embarrassing topics for them, which the opponents of the Hindu movement
are still exploiting to the hilt.

Invariably, the so-called secularists seemed to regard the RSS (with its
parivar or ‘family’ of affiliated organizations including the BJP) as the ‘alleged
murderers of the Mahatma’. As Craig Baxter, in The Jana Sangh (p. 50), has
remarked, this allegation is in defiance of the judicial verdict in the Mahatma
murder trial: ‘The RSS and the Jana Sangh do, however, frequently face
accusations of being the ‘murderers of Gandhi’. These most commonly come
from the Congress ‘left’ or from the Communists, are used as political slogans,
and, of course, show a disregard for the legal decision in the case.” But no matter
how much the RSS connection with Godse’s act may have been disproven, in
The Jana Sangh (p. 229), Baxter notices that Gandhi’s murder has been ‘a
millstone around the neck’ of the political Hindu movement and especially the
RSS.

Faced with this allegation, sticky though disproven, two attitudes are
possible: continuing in a defensive position by issuing denials whenever the
allegation is uttered, or taking it in one’s stride and even defiantly accepting it. It
is believed that the latter was generally the rhetorical tactic of Bal Thackeray,
leader of the national-populist Shiv Sena. Thus, when the demolition of the
Babri Masjid on 6 December 1992 was ascribed to Shiv Sena volunteers,
Thackeray declared, as The Times of India reported, ‘If Shiv Sainiks did it, I am
proud of them.” On the Gandhi murder too, he had taken a defiant stand, even
though he never accepted that the assassination could be attributed to the Shiv
Sena in anyway. In 1992, he shocked the opinion-makers by declaring that future
generations would erect statues for Godse rather than for the Mahatma.



The RSS family’s line has been just the opposite: they have exhausted
themselves in denials and condemnations of the murder. Because of their
enemies’ persistence, this has meant that in this respect, as in many others, the
RSS family has been continually on the defensive. In fact, seeing the RSS on the
defensive has obviously fuelled their opponents’ gusto in using this allegation.
The RSS leaders keep on repeating that the RSS had been officially cleared of all
charges of complicity, but to no avail: the media in India and abroad just keep on

associating them with the murder of the Mahatma.!!

To prove its innocence, the RSS family has invested a lot of words in
denouncing the murder and praising the Mahatma. Immediately after the murder,
the RSS supremo Madhav Sadashiv Golwalkar called it a ‘heinous crime’ and
directed all branches to suspend normal routine for the thirteen days of Hindu
mourning ‘out of respect and sense of sorrow at the tragic demise of Mahatmaji.’
Years later, he still gave speeches in praise of the Mahatma, just like any average
Congressman. In his case, however, no outsider was willing to credit him with

sincerity, perhaps wrongly.'?

THE GODSE BROTHERS’ TESTIMONY ON THE RSS

Here is Nathuram Godse’s own version on his involvement with the RSS:
29. I have worked for several years in RSS and subsequently joined the

HMS and volunteered myself as a soldier under its pan-Hindu flag.’!3
‘114. About the year 1932 late Dr. Hedgewar of Nagpur founded the

Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangha in Maharashtra also.!* His oration greatly
impressed me and I joined the Sangha as a volunteer thereof. I am one of those
volunteers of Maharashtra who joined the Sangha in its initial stage. I also
worked for a few years on the intellectual side in the Province of Maharashtra.
Having worked for the uplift of the Hindus, I felt it necessary to take part in the
political activities of the country for the protection of the just rights of the

Hindus. I therefore left the Sangha and joined the Hindu Mahasabha.’1°
However, Nathuram Godse’s straightforward declaration has lately been
challenged by none other than his brother and accomplice Gopal. On the
occasion of the annual Nathuram Godse memorial meeting (Mumbai, 17
November 1993), Gopal was interviewed and said, against the umpteenth
statement by Hindu nationalist leader L.K. Advani disowning Nathuram, that
Nathuram had been a baudhik karyavah (‘intellectual officer’, i.e., the above-
mentioned ‘work on the intellectual side’), an RSS worker of some rank at least



at the local level. The four Godse brothers had been groomed by the RSS at the

initiative of the eldest, Nathuram.'® Though their locus of activity shifted
somewhat, there never was a clean break with the RSS.

It is true that their guru, Veer Savarkar, had spoken with mild contempt of
the RSS, a well-known fact which gave credibility to Godse’s court statement
that he had left the RSS at about the time of Savarkar’s accession to the
presidency of the HMS in December 1937. But then, Savarkar had no personal
connection with the RSS, while the Godse brothers had spent time in RSS
meetings in their young days and developed a close link with it, not so easy to
disown. Therefore, Nathuram contrived to create the impression that the RSS
had little to do with him, simply to avoid creating more trouble for the RSS in
the difficult post-assassination months. Gopal explains that Nathuram did not
leave the RSS, he only stated so because Golwalkar and the RSS were already in

a lot of trouble after Gandhi’s murder.!”

There is really no controversy here. Nathuram Godse never rejected the
RSS, but he was not functioning within the RSS structure in the years before the
murder. He had chosen to do political work whereas the RSS scrupulously
stayed out of party politics. Ideologically, he still was an RSS man. That is why
he sang the nationalist RSS song Namaste sada vatsale matribhume (‘I bow to

thee, loving Motherland, always’),'® a fixed part of every RSS shaakhaa
(branch) meeting, when he walked to the gallows.

It remains true, moreover, that the RSS had professed a very negative
opinion of the Mahatma’s failed policy of ‘Hindu-Muslim unity’, an opinion
which was also Nathuram Godse’s motive for the murder. Much of Godse’s
speech consisted of comments which Hindu activists of any affiliation, including
the RSS, had been making ever since the Mahatma’s involvement in the pan-
Islamist Khilafat Movement of 1920-21 (discussed below). There is just no
denying that while the murder was the handiwork of a small group of
conspirators, their motive had been an indignation over Gandhi’s policies which
they shared with the entire Hindu Mahasabha, with the RSS and with many
common Hindus and Sikhs besides.

However, being of the same political opinion does not constitute complicity
in the crime. When a great man is murdered, you always see vultures descend on
the great opportunities for political exploitation which the concomitant quantity
of guilt and blame offers. When Yitzhak Rabin was murdered in 1995, many in
the Israeli Labour Party blamed the opposition Likud bloc, alleging that with its
virulent anti-Rabin propaganda, it had ‘created the right climate’ for the murder.
Likewise, after Mahatma Gandhi had criticized Swami Shraddhananda’s work of



reconverting Indian Muslims to Hinduism, a Muslim killed the Swami; and so,
Nathuram Godse alleged that Gandhi had ‘created the right climate’ for the
murder, or words to that effect: he ‘provoked a Muslim youth to murder the

Swami.’'® But we need not emulate Godse in his conflation of criticism and
murder, do we?

The RSS may rightly disown the responsibility for Godse’s act. It never
believed in assassination as a method of conducting politics. Before and after
1948, the RSS has been involved in many a street fight, but never in targeted
assassinations of public figures. Even during Godse’s trial, no evidence was ever
produced that the organization had ordered or condoned Godse’s initiative to
murder the Mahatma. If not for moral reasons, then at least out of self-interest,
the RSS was most certainly disinclined to associate itself with a crime of this
magnitude. After all, the negative consequences that actually followed were
perfectly foreseeable. And yet, the RSS ought to publicly (as most of its
sympathizers do privately) own up at least Godse’s argumentation, for that was
the view of Gandhi’s policies commonly held by the RSS activists in the 1940s.

INSPIRED BY SAVARKAR

In paragraphs 2647, Nathuram Godse details the story of his involvement in the
Hindu Sanghatan movement (‘self-organization’, of which the HMS and the
RSS were instances) and his political relation with Veer Savarkar:

29. I have worked for several years in RSS and subsequently joined the
Hindu Mahasabha and volunteered myself to fight as a soldier under its pan-
Hindu flag. About this time Veer Savarkar was elected to the Presidentship of
the Hindu Mahasabha. The Hindu movement got verily electrified and vivified
as never before, under his magnetic lead and whirlwind propaganda. Millions of
Hindu Sanghatanists looked up to him as the chosen hero, as the ablest and most
faithful advocate of the Hindu cause. I too was one of them. I worked devotedly
to carry on the Mahasabha activities and hence came to be personally acquainted

with Savarkarji.’?® And that, to Godse, is all there is to say about their personal
relationship.

Godse explains how Savarkar encouraged and financially supported Apte
and him when on 28 March 1944 they started their Marathi daily Agrani
(‘forerunner, vanguard’). This paper was closed down in 1946 by the authorities
for flouting the ban on clear and factual reporting on communal violence (i.e.,
detailing the genesis of the riots and the community-wise breakdown of the
victim numbers), but immediately restarted under the name, Hindu Rashtra.



Though they sometimes met at the HMS office in Bombay, Savarkar never
involved himself in Godse’s enterprise, not even to contribute a regular column
as Godse had requested him to do. As Partition came near, Godse lost his faith in
the HMS’s ability to stem the tide and keep India united:

‘34. Some three years ago, Veer Savarkar’s health got seriously impaired
and since then he was generally confined to bed. (...) Thus deprived of his virile
leadership and magnetic influence, the activities and influence of the Hindu
Mahasabha too got crippled and when Dr. Mookerji became its President, the
Mahasabha was actually reduced to the position of a hand-maid to the Congress.
It became quite incapable of counteracting the dangerous anti-Hindu activities of
Gandhiite cabal on the one hand and the Muslim League on the other. (...) I
determined to organise a youthful band of Hindu Sanghatanists and adopt a
fighting programme both against the Congress and the League without

consulting any of those prominent but old leaders of the Mahasabha.’?!

The ‘youthful band’ was the Hindu Raksha Dal (‘Hindu protection squad’)
with a membership never exceeding 150. Godse was now his own man directing
his own political activities, independent of the RSS and HMS. Whatever their
ideological kinship, they cannot be held responsible for Godse’s act.

DISAPPOINTED WITH SAVARKAR

Let us now look in more detail into the organizational estrangement between
Godse and his mentor Savarkar. Of the events ‘which painfully opened my eyes
about this time to the fact that Veer Savarkar and other old leaders of the
Mahasabha could no longer be relied upon’ (para 35-44), Godse mentions the
following examples. In 1946, Savarkar went out of his way to personally
reprimand Godse when Apte and he had heckled Gandhiji during a prayer-
meeting in a Hindu temple in Bhangi Colony (Delhi), where Gandhiji had read
passages from the Quran in spite of protests by the Hindu worshippers, and
where he had spoken in defence of Bengal Chief Minister Huseyn Shaheed
Suhrawardy, the man possibly politically (and probably also directly)
responsible for anti-Hindu pogroms in Calcutta and Noakhali. Godse quotes
Savarkar:

‘37. (...) “Just as I condemn the Congressites for breaking up your party
meetings and election booths by disorderly conduct, I ought to condemn any
such undemocratic conduct on the part of Hindu Sanghatanists also.”’??

Of greater political importance was the fact that Savarkar and the other HMS
leaders recognized the post-Partition State of India, hoisted its flag, and accepted



Nehru’s invitation that their party president, S.P. Mookerjee, join the provisional
government:

‘41. (...) To my mind to recognise a State of Divided India was tantamount
to being a party to the cursed vivisection of India. (...) Veer Savarkar went
further and actually insisted that the tri-colour flag with the wheel should be
recognised as a National Flag.

‘42. (...) In addition to that, when Dr. Mookerji asked his permission
through a trunk call to Veer Savarkar as to whether Dr. Mookerji should accept a
portfolio in the Indian Union Ministry, Veer Savarkar emphatically replied that
the new Government must be recognised as a National Government whatever

may be the party leading it, and must be supported by all patriots (...).”%3

By inviting the HMS president into his Cabinet, Nehru effectively
neutralized the HMS. In the opposition, the party could have been a dangerous
adversary, especially as the champion of the Indian unity which Congress had
betrayed; but as a partner in the government, and one with little influence at that,
it became harmless. In terms of political strategy, Godse’s critique of the HMS
leadership’s cooperationist line was probably correct. On the other hand, one
should concede to Nehru a certain genuine generosity and a fitting sense that the
first native Government should be a truly national one, with representatives of
all political tendencies. Then again, it is also true that Dr Mookerjee and Dr
Ambedkar had been invited by him on advice from Mahatma Gandhi and Sardar
Patel; Nehru himself was rather reluctant at that time and felt increasingly
uncomfortable with them subsequently, as events went to prove.

Savarkar, the veteran fighter for independence, was apparently too happy
with the long-awaited sovereignty as embodied in the first native Union
Government to think in terms of party politics. But Godse did not believe that a
truly sovereign and representative government was compatible with the intrusive
presence of Gandbhiji:

‘43. (...) I myself could not be opposed to a common front of patriots, but
while the Congress Government continued to be so sheepishly under the thumb
of Gandhiji and while Gandhiji could thrust his anti-Hindu fads on that
Congressite Government by resorting to such a cheap trick as threatening a fast,
it was clear to me that any common front under such circumstances was bound
to be another form of setting up Gandhiji’s dictatorship and consequently a

betrayal of Hindudom.’%*

If even Savarkar and Mookerjee were willing to surrender to Gandhiji’s
dictates, Godse judged that the time had come for a new and independent
political activism:



‘44. Every one of these steps taken by Veer Savarkar was so deeply resented
by me that I myself along with Mr. Apte and some of the young Hindu
Sanghatanist friends decided once and for all to chalk and work out our active
programme quite independently of the Mahasabha or its old veteran leaders. We
resolved not to confide any of our new plans to any of them including

Savarkar.’%°

Here, Godse denies once more that Savarkar had played a role in the
assassination. Approver Digamber Badge kept on making this very allegation,
possibly because he or the investigating police officers expected some reward
from Pandit Nehru in exchange for catching such a big fish. HMS leader and
Godse’s lawyer L.B. Bhopatkar revealed several years later, in Manohar
Malgonkar’s The Men Who Killed Gandhi (a volume published by the Savarkar
Memorial Committee on 16 February 1989), that Dr Ambedkar, the Law
Minister in Nehru’s Cabinet at that time, met him secretly to inform him that
Nehru was personally interested in involving Savarkar, though there was no
evidence to prove Savarkar’s complicity. His mere imprisonment was successful
enough in eliminating him from politics. Manohar Malgonkar, in The Men Who
Killed Gandhi (p. 29) writes ‘The strain of the trial, and the year spent in prison
while it lasted, wrecked Savarkar’s health and finished him as a force in India’s
politics.’

At any rate, the prosecutor could not produce the slightest evidence
connecting Savarkar with the murder. In August 1974, Badge admitted to an

interviewer that his testimony against Savarkar had been false.?® Ever since,
journalists reluctant to give up the polemical advantage of connecting the main
Hindutva ideologue with the murder, glibly introduce him as ‘a co-accused in
the Mahatma murder trial.’?” In Nehruvian ‘secularism’, superficiality of thought
is compensated for by thoroughness in dishonesty.

A RUMOUR ABOUT GODSE AND SAVARKAR

At this point, we cannot altogether ignore a rumour which frequently appears in
the secondary literature on Hindutva. According to Larry Collins and Dominique
Lapierre, the writers of the overrated book Freedom at Midnight, the most
widely-read introduction to the history of India’s attainment of independence,
including the Mahatma murder story, Godse had had a homosexual relation with
Savarkar.”8

As usually happens with rumours, this one too has spread. Thus, in M.J.
Akbar’s Nehru biography (p. 428), the claim becomes a curt statement of fact:



‘Nathuram Godse, thirty-seven, homosexual, fanatic, ascetic, ...” Akbar’s book
has been republished as a Penguin paperback, available in the whole world.
Similarly, the French edition of Freedom at Midnight claims that Savarkar was a
homosexual and frequent opium user, even though few people knew about it.
And of Godse, that before he chose to remain a celibate, ‘he had had, so it is
believed, only one sexual experience, with his political mentor Veer Savarkar, as
initiator.”%?

In his psychological comment on the relation between Gandhi and Godse,
well-known psychologist Ashis Nandy registers Collins’ and Lapierre’s claim
and expresses serious doubts about it, but also mentions those very facts that

seem to make it plausible to Freudians.?? Firstly, as a child, Godse had been
treated like a girl by his parents, in the hope of magically warding off the fate of
their three earlier sons, who had all died in infancy. Nathuram literally means
‘nose-ring Ram’ (his given name was Ramachandra, or Ram for short), because
he had been made to wear this feminine ornament. Secondly, Savarkar, who
spent a decade in the Andaman penal colony, must have been familiar with
aberrant sexual practices common in prisons; the Pathan camp guards had a
grisly reputation in this regard. These conjectures don’t prove anything, but they
provide the infrastructure of plausibility on which rumour-mongers build their
inferences.

Fact is that serious reporters on the Gandhi murder trial mention nothing of
the kind, and that the claimed source of the rumour, Nathuram Godse’s brother
Gopal, strongly denies (to Nandy as well as to myself) ever having told any such
thing to Collins and Lapierre. Accordin